Glenn Doolin #1023173
SPDC Box 208
Indian Springs NV 89070
(Petitioner Proper Person).

In the Supreme Court
of the State of Nevada

FILED

DEC 19 2017

ELIZABETH A. BROWN
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
BY [Signature]
DEPUTY CLERK

Glenn Doolin,
Petitioner, Appellant ~

Case No: 73698

(District Court Case No: A-16-745766-W).

vs~

Issues on Appeal.

Dodlins original petition for writ of Habeas Corpus supplies his ground for relief that concerns the Statute interpretation of NRS 209.4465 and how it is to be applied and enforced upon Dodlins terms of incarceration. Dodlins ground was filed on October 27th 2016, and what is deeply intriguing here, is that the Nevada Supreme Court has already recognized this issues importance, yet did not consider it.

In the Unpublished Case of "Bayot v. I. Baca warden, 2017 Nev. App. Unpub. Lexis 176", the Nevada Supreme Court provided in footnote #2,

"... Bayot was convicted of 11 counts of Forgery and one Count of Conspiracy to commit forgery and was sentenced under the Small Habitual criminal enhancement. NRS 205.090 Categorizes forgery as a Category D felony, But NRS 207.010 (1)(a) states defendants who are adjudicated habitual criminals under the small habitual criminal enhancement, "shall be punished for a Category B felony". Accordingly Bayot was convicted of category D felonies for his forgery convictions but is being punished for Category B felonies pursuant to the small Habitual criminal enhancement ... ,

////

... (Footnote #2 continued), - "We note NRS 209.4465(2)(d) states that credits do not apply to the minimum terms of offenders that have "been Convicted of [a] Category A or B felony". The Nevada Supreme Court had previously held that the habitual criminal enhancement does not constitute a separate crime, but rather increased punishment. [See *Hollander v. Warden*, 26 Nev. 369, 373, 468 P.2d 990, 992 (1970); *Howard v. State*, 422 P.2d 548 (1967); *Lisby v. State*, 414 P.2d 592 (1966).] Because the credit application limitations in NRS 209.4465(2)(d) apply to those "Convicted" of category A or B felonies, it is not clear that such restrictions also apply to those convicted of lesser felonies who receive enhanced punishments due to their status as habitual criminals. However, because this issue was not specifically raised in this matter, we decline to consider it in this appeal. - " (end of Footnote #2).

Petitioner Doolin presents this exact same argument within his petition for writ of Habeas Corpus and now on appeal to the Supreme Court, as the Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct. failed to correctly interpret and apply the proper language used to define a conviction from a punishment and or enhancement status and abused its discretion by failing to apply the proper category of conviction towards Doolin's sentence, as the Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct. incorrectly found that Doolin is sentenced for a category B felony committed on/in 2013. (Court's Order of Denial pg 2 lns 21-27), further Doolin is not serving a sentence based upon a category B felony.

As such, Doolin now presents three grounds for this Court's review on appeal. 1), Doolin is entitled to statutory credits earned under NRS 209.4465 to be applied to Doolin's minimum term of incarceration, as he has been convicted of a Category C felony, which declares an Minimum/Maximum term without an parole eligibility term to serve first.

2.) The Eighth Judicial District Court Abused its Discretion by applying the incorrect category of felony conviction towards Doolin's sentence structure, therefore denying the correct application of NRS 209.4465 as provided in the language of the State legislature.

3). That the "Category of punishment" is Not an Conviction of an Category felony, the clear language of interacting NRS Statutes allows for Habitual offenders, under non-parole eligibility terms, to receive credit based upon the primary conviction;

Petitioner Doolin also incorporates his grand for relief contained in his petition for writ of Habeas Corpus herein now in this appeal, as the claim is again the same that this Court has acknowledged exists and is relevant. Doolin now presents his grounds for relief.

A

Ground One

Petitioner Doolin has been Denied his Constitutional Right to Due Process and Equal Protection of the Law guaranteed by the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by the Acts of the Nevada Department of Corrections (Respondents).

Doolin was sentenced and adjudged guilty by the Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct. on April 10th 2013, to the charges of Count one: Grand larceny - auto; NRS 205.228(2), an Category C felony. The Petitioner was then sentenced under the Small Habitual Criminal Statute, NRS 207.010 (a), to a minimum term of not less than (60) Sixty months and a term of not more than (150) One Hundred Fifty months.

As the Petitioner was found guilty of an Category C felony, the petitioner is allowed to receive credit days towards his minimum sentence structure pursuant to NRS 209.4465. The Nevada Department of Corrections (N.D.C.), as the Petitioner's Custodian, has Denied the proper application of NRS 209.4465, and has therefore denied Doolin Equal Protection of the Law enacted by the State of Nevada Legislature without Due Process of Law.

The Petitioner was sentenced pursuant to NRS 207.010(a), which provides for a minimum/Maximum term as an sentence structure. NRS 207.010(a) provides a Penalty of a minimum term of not less than Five (5) years and a maximum term of not more than Twenty (20) years. As such the Petitioner was sentenced under one of two forms/styles used in the State of Nevada. The First is expressed under the punishment clause of an NRS Statute as:

"... Be punished by imprisonment in the State prison for a minimum term of not less than [x] years, and an maximum term of not more than [y] years ..."

The Second style of sentence structure used in Nevada is an "Parole Eligibility" sentence term, which is expressed as:

"... Be punished by imprisonment for an Maximum term of [x] years with the Eligibility of Parole when a minimum of [y] years has been served..."

Petitioner Declin is clearly sentenced under the first sentence/punishment Clause construction, as No language of "Parole Eligibility" is contained in his punishment clause, and as such meets the criteria to be Granted, earned statutory credit application under NRS 209.4465 towards his minimum sentenced term. Here, the NDC has denied this application, though the Nevada Legislature has declared otherwise.

The provisions and enactment of NRS 207.010 to NRS 207.016 inclusive, were created by the State Legislature, are to be seen and used as an "Enhancement" to the original or Base offense found guilty of and is not seen as or expressed as an "Separate" offense to be convicted of as an alleged crime. [See "Crotcher v. Eighth Jud Dist. Ct.", 903 P.2d 823 (1995); and "Parkerson v. State", 678 P.2d 1155, (1984)]. The Courts do not distinguish between the "types" of crime committed when declaring the Habitual criminal enhancement as an sentence ["Arsiakis v. State", 843 P.2d 800 (1992)], yet is viewed as mitigating evidence per-mitted at the time of sentencing.

Here, the Petitioner was found guilty of an Category C felony (The Conviction), yet recieved as an punishment for such violation an Category B punishment. The Petitioner was not found guilty or convicted of a Category B felony. A status and enhancement can not be a factor when applying NRS 209.4465 towards the Petitioners sentence structure, especially when the Habitual criminal enhancement punishment is only warranted for a defendants status as an recidivist, Not for an convicted offenders conduct under the base offense charged. An Habitual Criminal proceeding Does Not charge an seperate offense, it is only used to increase punishment if found true, [Quoting "Howard v. State", 422 P.2d 548 (1967)"], A such, an Category B punishment is Not an Category B conviction.

The status as an Habitual offender does not increase punishment of the "principal offense" for which a defendant is on trial for [quoting] Howard v. State, 422 P.2d 548 (1967); and Odums v. State, 714 P.2d 568 (1986)], but issued to those who are considered as an recidivist. This is true as the State Legislature did not authorize punishments for both the primary offense and the Habitual Criminal status. The legislature has given evidence that the Habitual Criminal status is not substantive offenses (separate as an status). The Petitioner has established that being adjudged as an Habitual offender, which is only a Status and not an separate offense, the Petitioner is only convicted of the alleged conduct under an Category C felony.

As the Petitioner was convicted of an Category C felony, as the primary offense the provisions of NRS 209.4465, allowing the application of earned statutory credits and or work credits to be applied to the minimum term of Imprisonment is allowed and must be applied by the NDOC, yet since the year 2007 the offender management Division of the NDOC has failed to follow statute mandates as the Nevada legislature intended by enacting the Amendments of NRS 209.4465 under Assembly Bill 510 (A.B. 510). The offender Management Division (O.M.D) has created its own flawed interpretation of NRS 209.4465 and its application, which again Denies the Petitioner Equal Protection of the law, As those with Category C felonies alone do receive such proper application and equal treatment.

The provisions of NRS 209.4465 sub-section 1 reads as follows:

"... 1) An offender who is sentenced to prison for a Crime Committed on or after July 17th 1997, who has no serious infraction of the regulations of the Department, the terms and conditions of his or her residential confinement, or the laws of the State recorded against the offender, and who performs in a faithful, orderly and peaceable manner the duties assigned to the offender - Must be allowed:

... A deduction of 20 days from his or her sentence for each month the offender serves.

This legislative mandate gives an directive to the N.D.O.C. to Award credit to an offender, it is subsection 7 that gives the directive of where the credit should be applied upon an offenders sentence terms.

NRS 209.4465 sub-section 7 dictates the application of credits earned under sub-section 1 and reads as follows:

"... 7) Except as otherwise provided in subsection 8 and 9, credits earned pursuant to this section:

- A) Must be deducted from the maximum term or the maximum aggregate term imposed by the sentence as applicable, and;
- B). Apply to Eligibility for parole unless the offender was sentenced pursuant to an statute which specifies a minimum sentence that must be served before a person becomes eligible for parole...."

NRS 209.4465 (7)(b) mandates the application of earned credits towards the minimum sentence term of the Petitioner's sentence structure, as the Petitioner does not have a sentence structure that contains or requires a minimum term that first must be served to become parole eligible. As such, credits earned because the Petitioner is "An offender sentenced to prison for a Crime Committed on or after July 17th 1997 (quoting NRS 209.4465(1)), the Petitioner's credits earned must be applied to the minimum term of incarceration, here a minimum term of Sixty (60) months. The Crime Committed, as alleged and convicted of, by the Petitioner is a Non-Violent Category C felony pursuant to NRS 205.228 Grand larceny - auto.

NRS 209.4465 sub-section 8 application criteria of earned credits does not apply to the Petitioner, nor pronounce the denial of credit application towards the Petitioner's minimum sentence structure, as the criteria under sub-section 8 does not list the Petitioner's category of Convicted offense, as an offense that only receives credit application from the maximum sentence structure. NRS 209.4465 8 reads as follows:

"... 8). credits earned pursuant to this section by an offender who has not been convicted of:

- a). Any crime that is punishable as a felony involving the use of or threatened use of force or violence against the victim;
- b). A sexual offense that is punishable as a felony;
- c). A violation of NRS 484C.110; 484C.120; 484C.130 or 484C.430 that is punishable as an felony or;
- d) A category A or B felony;

..... (NRS 209.4465 (8) continued) . . Apply to eligibility for parole and as otherwise provided in subsection 9 Must Be deducted from the Minimum term or minimum aggregate term imposed by the sentence, as applicable, until the offender becomes eligible for parole and Must Be deducted from the maximum term or maximum aggregate term imposed by the sentence as applicable . . . " .

This NRS Sub-section (8) mandates the application of earned credits to be applied to the minimum term and maximum term of imprisonment as the Petitioner Does Not have any of the listed elements contained in subsection 8 (a), (b), (c), (d), which would preclude the application of credits towards the minimum sentence. NRS 209.4465 is clear language that it is the "Conviction" that determines the application of credits allows Petitioner to earn such.

Here, the O.M.D has stated under its memorandum issued by Mr. Rex Reed On January 3rd 2008, that an expiration date is an Conditional date, and a person will know their actual date of release when the Computer "locks" such in (10) Ten days before release. The O.M.D. department has also provided in this memorandum that "Inmates earning good time, work time and meritorious credits constantly move their discharge dates". (This position assumes that all applied and earned Credit must be applied to the Maximum term an offender is sentenced to serve). The O.M.D has now acknowledged by this memorandum that earning credits is an actual topic that determines a person / offenders release date, a Substantial Liberty Interest.

This memorandum further portrays that O.M.D "assumes" all dates, and these dates are assumed by a computer, which is only a "Guide" and maybe even considered a fictional date. This Computer assumption causes the intended mandates and provisions of the Nevada Legislature "Null and Void" as a "given that the actual discharge date is unknown for most of an offenders prison term", (Exhibit A attached), as different Custodies and Sentences can Earn (credits) at different rates. No where does the Nevada Legislature provide the N.D.C. with the authority under NRS 209.4465 to apply credits to offenders at [different rates] in different Custodies or Sentences, as all offenders in the custody of the NDOC earn [20] Twenty days each month the offender serves for being Committed to the NDOC for a Crime the offender has been Convicted of.

The application of NRS 209.4465 by the Nevada Department of Corrections and the O.M.D. department which oversees the offenders sentence and imprisonment conditions is clearly in direct violation of the Law of the State of Nevada and the protections of said law to be equally and fairly applied, further "Common Sense" would severely question the calculation process of an offenders sentence structure and the recording of such credits earned by the offender, that a person would be shocked to learn their sons or daughters time incarcerated is Assumed by a Computer that "Counts the chickens before they hatch" method. (Credits earned are assumed to be earned by an offender Before he earns such to determine the fictional expiration date of the offender).

The B.D.C.C. has deliberately overstepped their authority to interpret the NRS statute (209.4465) as they deem appropriate and correct. The Petitioner is entitled to the correct application of the law as was enacted by the State Legislature, especially when a persons freedom and release from confinement is at stake and being delayed beyond the punishment that was ordered to be served by the Eighth Judicial District Court. Clearly this Courts DeNovo review is warranted and needed to protect the interests of the offender before further injustice occurs.

A statutes interpretation is a question of Law that Must be reviewed DeNovo, [State of Nevada, v. Catano, 102 P.3d 588 (2004)]. Here, the Court has the duty to interpret the provisions, which are under an "Common Statutory Scheme" "Harmoniously" with one another to avoid Absurd results. [Torreblanca v. Kesmetis, 178 P.3d 716 (2008)]. The Court is now presented with a question of Law, which affects the freedom of the offender, that being "Does the Petitioner receive credits under NRS 209.4465, as he is and was convicted of an Category non-violent C felony, as the punishment he is under is not the convicted crime of substantial offense?"; And does the current calculation of credits earned by an offender currently in place by the NDOC violate the Liberty Interests and Due Process of Law? as an offender has no choice but to rely on and upon the Computer assumption of an fictional release date projected until about [10] Ten days before he could be released. The answer is yes to both questions, as an offender has no ability to keep "Checks and Balances" at all times upon the authority to keep custody of an offender and his release date, from such custody if the offenders calculation is based upon the NRS is Incorrect, as the authority Doesnt comply with such NRS mandate.

No part of an statute should be rendered Nuyatory, nor any language turned to mere surplusage, if such consequences can be avoided, [quoting "Independent American Party v. Law, 880 P.2d 1391 (1994)"]. As the Statute governing the Habitual criminal Statute is A Status, and Not a Convictable crime or offense, it can Not be used to determine a application of an NRS that contains Clear words, its application towards an offender who was Sentenced to prison for a Crime Committed, and Conviction is the Mandated enforcement of NRS 209.4465 Not the punishment.

The alleged crime committed by the Petitioner is an Non-violent Category C felony under NRS 205.228, The Language used in these NRS statutes proves that the Petitioner Has suffered an injustice by being denied the correct and mandated application of a statute that concerns his release from confinement of the NSCC. The Respondents can not continue to violate and ignore the Nevada Legislature and apply the law against its intent, mandate and authority. This violating the Due Process and Equal Protection clauses of the Law, under the United States Constitution, the Fifth and Fourteenth amendment, as it is now a Miscarriage of justice.

A

Ground Two

The Eighth Judicial District Court Abused its Discretion by applying the Incorrect Category of Felony Conviction towards Doolins Sentence Structure, therefore Denying the Correct application of NRS 209.4465 as provided in the language of the State Legislature, in violation of Petitioners Right to Due Process and Equal Protection of the law under the Fifth and Fourteenth amendments to the United States Constitution.

. (A) .

The Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct. in its order of October 9th 2017 applied the incorrect legal theory and classification of felony against the Petitioner which allowed the Court to Deny Petitioner Doolin an Liberty Interest provided by the State Legislature. The Court found on pg. 2 Ln 21-27 that Petitioner Doolin was sentenced pursuant to a Category B felony. This Belief is incorrect. Petitioner was sentenced pursuant to a Category B "punishment clause" as an Habitual Criminal status.

The Court is aware that a Punishment/Sentence Clause is Not found to be, nor can be seen as the equal of a Conviction Clause of an NRS statute. NRS 193.130 "Categories and punishments of felonies" provides evidence of this issue, and States that it is the Conviction that determines the duration of punishment as out-lined by the Legislature.

NRS 193.130 ... (1) Except when a person is Convicted of a Category A felony, and except as otherwise provided by Specific Statute, A Person Convicted of a felony shall be sentenced to a minimum term and a maximum term of imprisonment which must be within the limits prescribed by the applicable statute, unless the statute in force at the time of commission of the felony prescribed a different penalty. The minimum term of imprisonment that may be imposed must not exceed 40 percent of the maximum term imposed. . . .

With this NRS provision, it is the Conviction of a "felony Commission" that allows for a Sentence of imprisonment to be imposed. Here, as the Court is aware, a offender Can Not Commit the felony crime of a "Habitual Criminal".

Next, NRS 207.010 to NRS 207.012 inclusive provides the definition and punishment of Habitual Criminals, mainly NRS 207.010 states:

... 1.) Unless the person is prosecuted pursuant to NRS 207.012 or 207.014, a person convicted in this state of:

(a) Any felony, who has previously been two times convicted, whether in this state or elsewhere, of any crime which under the laws of the situs of the crime or of this state would amount to a felony is a habitual criminal and shall be punished for a Category B felony by imprisonment in the State prison for a minimum term of not less than 3 years and a maximum term of not more than 20 years.

This NRS subsection promotes that a person who was previously convicted of a crime shall [shall] be punished for a Category B felony, thus under NRS 193.130 (2)(b) states:

... "A category B felony is a felony for which the minimum term of imprisonment in the State prison that may be imposed is not less than 1 year and the maximum term of imprisonment that may be imposed is not more than 20 years, as provided by specific statute..."

As such NRS 193.130 (2)(b) defines the punishment clause for a Category B felony conviction, and NRS 207.010(1)(a) adopts this clause and states a person shall be punished for a Category B felony, which is a minimum term of 1 (one) year and a maximum term of not more than 20 years [which NRS 207.010 allows for]. Being punished for a category felony is not an conviction for that style of felony. Quoting "Crutcher v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 903 P2d 823 (1995)", "...

Because the Habitual criminal enhancement affects the Sentencing stage of proceedings, the Legislature clearly intended that it be charged before sentencing, thus this statute permits the habitual criminal enhancement to be charged after conviction, but still requires that it be charged before sentencing..."

As "Crutcher" supra states, the Habitual criminal enhancement affects the Sentencing stage, it therefore can not affect the Guilt / conviction stage.

with the Habitual criminal enhancement only affecting the sentencing stage, then there is no conduct, or criminal action to be proven by the State that an offender did indeed do by his own actions, thus a conviction of a Defined criminal conduct can not be achieved for purposes of a Criminal Conviction under NRS 207.010. Further the Defined conduct to be found to charge an offender as an habitual offender, a person must have been Convicted previously [of] two times. "It is not a Separate offense to be a Habitual criminal, but a Status, [quoting "Howard v. State, 422 P.2d 548 (1967) ; and Parkerson v. State, 678 P.2d 1155 (1984)"] , and therefore a person can not be Convicted of a Status. In "Parkerson" supra the Court found that a Habitual Criminal status/proceeding is only conducted Only to determine whether an enhancement of punishment is warranted for a defendants status as a "Recidivist." Further in "Parkerson" supra held that "Although an allegation that a defendant falls within the purview of the habitual criminal statute is typically included in the charging document, such an allegation Does Not charge a separate, substantive criminal offense. -".

Therefore the Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct. improperly applied a Status finding as an conviction, with holding the proper application of statutory credits under NRS 209.4465 for the Petitioners primary conviction, of an category C felony. Thus violating Petitioners Right to Due Process and Equal Protection of the law under the Fifth and Fourteenth amendments to the United States Constitution.

A.

Conclusion

The Petitioner has put forth his grounds for relief under this appeal from the Eighth District Court's order denying Habeas relief, which is an abuse of discretion and challenged herein.

The Petitioner is allowed under the clear statutory language to receive credits pursuant to NRS 209.4465 towards his primary offense and conviction category C felony minimum term of incarceration, the WDOC has denied such clear mandate, and therefore the Petitioner's prayers are for this court to intercede and order such to be given towards his minimum term.