IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

GLENN MILLER DOOLIN,

FILED

Appellant,

AUG 0 8 2018

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
BY DEPUTY CLERK

THE STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

v.

Respondent.

On Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada Case No. A-16-745766-W

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

ADAM PAUL LAXALT
Attorney General
Nevada Bar No. 12426
JESSICA PERLICK
Deputy Attorney General
Nevada Bar No. 13218
State of Nevada
Office of the Attorney General
555 E. Washington Ave., Suite 3900
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 486-3825 (phone)
jperlick@ag.nv.gov
Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

NRS 207.010, the habitual criminal statute, exposes repeat felony offenders to more serious punishment than they would receive for a single felony offense—specifically, a longer prison sentence. It accomplishes this by enhancing the felony classification of a habitual offender's underlying crime to a category A or B felony.

For example, NRS 207.010 classifies the small habitual offender as a category B felon, regardless of the nature of the underlying felony offenses that qualify him as a habitual offender.

States have a valid and important interest in deterring habitual criminals, because recidivism is a serious public safety concern. In Nevada, the Legislature specifically sought to discourage repeat offenders, and provide an opportunity to reform through incarceration. Here, when the State charged Doolin in Case No. C284106, it was for one felony and one gross misdemeanor that he committed while a warrant was out for his arrest in an unrelated case. According to the notice to seek habitual treatment, this was at least the fifth felony Doolin committed. The district court accordingly found him to be a habitual offender subject to punishment as a category B felon.

NRS 209.4465(8) prohibits category A and B felons from application of good-time credits against their parole eligibility. Thus, because NRS 207.010 specifically enhances the felony classification of a habitual offender to a category A or B felony,

¹ In Nevada, in addition to flat time earned for each actual day an individual is in custody, inmates can earn twenty (20) statutory good-time credits for each month of incarceration. All offenders can have these good-time credits deducted from the maximum term of their sentences, but only certain offenders qualify to also have those credits deducted from their minimum term, or parole eligibility. For inmates who committed their offense after June 30, 2007, like Doolin, NRS 209.4465(8) restricts certain inmates from applying the credits against the minimum term.

these habitual offenders are prohibited from applying good-time credits against their parole eligibility under NRS 209.4465(8). To find otherwise would render the category A or B felony designation in the habitual criminal statute superfluous, and undermine the purpose of both NRS 207.010 and NRS 209.4465(8).

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

This Court gives deference to factual findings of the district court, but it reviews legal conclusions *de novo*. *State v. Huebler*, 128 Nev. 192, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012). Questions of statutory interpretation are issues of law reviewed *de novo*. *See Davis v. Beling*, 128 Nev. 301, 278 P.3d 501, 510 (2012).

II. The Purpose of NRS 207.010 Is to Expose Repeat Felony Offenders to Harsher Punishment and Longer Prison Sentences.

In Nevada, NRS 207.010 provides, as follows, that a two-time convicted felon shall be punished for his third felony as a category B felon:

- (1) Unless the person is prosecuted pursuant to NRS 207.012 or 207.014, a person convicted in this State of:
 - (a) Any felony, who has previously been two times convicted, whether in this State or elsewhere, of any crime which under the laws of the situs of the crime or of this State would amount to a felony is a habitual criminal and shall be punished for a category B felony by imprisonment in the state

prison for a minimum term of not less than 5 years and a maximum term of not more than 20 years.²

NRS 207.010(1)(a).3 "By enacting the habitual criminal statute, the legislature sought to discourage repeat offenders and to afford them an opportunity to reform." Rezin v. State, 95 Nev. 461, 463, 596 P.2d 226, 227 (1979). The purpose of the habitual criminal statute is to allow the criminal justice system to deal with career criminals who threaten public safety. Johnson v. State, 354 P.3d 667, 677 (Nev. App. 2015). States have a valid and important interest in deterring habitual criminals, because recidivism is a legitimate basis for increased punishment, and is a serious public safety concern. See generally Ewing v. California, 538 U.S. 11, 25-26, 123 S.Ct. 1179, 1187-88 (2003). In Nevada, the statute makes no distinction between non-violent versus violent crimes; rather, the type of offense is merely a consideration within the court's discretion as the court considers whether to classify the repeat offender a habitual criminal. Arajkis v. State, 108 Nev. 976, 983, 843 P.2d 800, 805 (1992).

When the State charged Doolin in 2012 with his <u>fifth</u> felony offense, it sought habitual criminal adjudication pursuant to NRS 207.010. RA 39-40. At his

² Individuals adjudicated under this section of the statute are referred to as a small habitual criminal.

³ If an offender is a three-time convicted felon, NRS 207.010(1)(b) states that he "shall be punished for a category A felony," and can face life imprisonment. Individuals adjudicated under this section of the statute are referred to as a large habitual criminal.

sentencing in 2013, the district court adjudicated Doolin as a small habitual criminal.

RA 42-43. NRS 207.010(1)(a) thus enhanced Doolin's felony classification from category C to category B.

Here, the apparent intent of the habitual criminal statute is to enhance the punishment a repeat offender receives, subjecting the repeat offender to a more serious punishment from what a one-time offender would normally receive. This Court should affirm the judgment of the district court, which gives effect to this intent. *See Edgington v. Edgington*, 119 Nev. 577, 582-83, 80 P.3d 1282, 1286-87 (2003) (stating that the apparent intent of a statute must be given effect when the language of the statute is unambiguous). NRS 207.010 requires the enhancement of Doolin's underlying felony from its specific category to a category B felony, and imposes harsher punishments on all career criminals like him.

Enhancing Doolin's offense to a category B felony subjected him to a longer and more serious term of imprisonment than was available to the court without the enhancement. Doolin's underlying category C offense allowed for a prison term of not less than one (1) year, and not more than five (5) years. NRS 205.228(2), NRS 193.130(2)(c). NRS 207.010, on the other hand, authorized the court to impose a maximum of one hundred fifty (150) months, or twelve and a half (12.5) years, with a minimum parole eligibility of sixty (60) months, or five (5) years. RA 42-43.

Accepting Doolin's suggestion that he should be treated as a category C felon for the purpose of applying good-time credits would render the language of NRS 207.010, mandating his punishment "for a category B felony," superfluous in that context. This Court "avoid[s] statutory interpretation that renders language meaningless or superfluous." *Williams v. State Dep't of Corr.*, 402 P.3d 1260, 1262 (Nev. 2011) (quoting *Hobbs v. State*, 127 Nev. 234, 237, 251 P.3d 177, 179 (2011)). The Court should affirm the district court's conclusion that NRS 207.010 enhanced Doolin's offense to a category B felony and deny his request for the application of good-time credit to his parole eligibility date.

III. An Inmate Adjudicated as a Habitual Criminal Cannot Apply Good-Time Credits to His Minimum Term of Imprisonment.

Inmates in Nevada have the opportunity to earn time credits through good behavior, program participation, or prison employment. NRS 209.4465. These credits can result in a substantially earlier opportunity for parole if applied to their minimum term. All offenders can have these good-time credits deducted from the maximum term of their sentences, but only certain offenders qualify to also have those credits deducted from their minimum term, or parole eligibility. *See generally, id.* at (7)(b) and (8). NDOC deducts the earned credits from the maximum term or maximum aggregate term of imprisonment, as applicable. *Id.* at (7)(a).

In 2007, the Nevada Legislature amended NRS Chapter 209, which regulates not only the credits earned by inmates, but the method in which such credits are deducted from the inmate's sentence. The legislature excluded some categories of crimes from the benefit of applying good-time credits to parole eligibility. This exclusion included category A or B felonies.

Credits earned pursuant to this section by an offender who has not been convicted of:

- (a) Any crime that is punishable as a felony involving the use or threatened use of force or violence against the victim;
- (b) A sexual offense that is punishable as a felony;
- (c) A violation of NRS 484C.110, 484C.120, 484C.130, or 484C.430 that is punishable as a felony;
- (d) A category A or B felony,

apply to eligibility for parole

NRS 209.4465(8). Thus, category A and B felonies were no longer entitled to this good-time credit benefit.

Interpreted together, NRS 207.010 and NRS 209.4465 indicate that the legislature intends to punish more serious crimes by allowing for imposition of both harsher sentences and more restrictions on the application of good-time benefits. Both of these statutes work together to help to prevent excessively early release dates for serious criminals. This includes career criminals that threaten the safety and well-

being of Nevada communities. This Court will, whenever possible, "interpret a rule or statute in harmony with other rules or statutes." *Watson Rounds v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 358 P.3d 228, 232 (Nev. 2015). Words in a statute should be given their plain meaning, unless this violates the spirit of the act. *McKay v. Board of Sup'rs of Carson City*, 102 Nev. 644, 648, 730 P.2d 438, 441 (1986). Under the presumption against ineffectiveness cannon, "(1) interpretation always depends on context, (2) context always includes evident purpose, and (3) evident purpose always includes effectiveness." Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, *Reading the Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts* 63 (2012).

To read "convicted of" in NRS 209.4465 as a requirement to look beyond a career criminal's category B felony classification to the nature of his underlying offense would violate both the intent of habitual enhancement under NRS 207.010, and of the restrictions contained in NRS 209.4465(8). NRS 209.4465(8), for example, aims to restrict several categories of serious offenders from reducing their minimum sentences by deducting earned credits from their minimum terms. *See generally, Williams*, 402 P.3d at 1264 n.6. This includes violent offenders, felony sex offenders, felony DUI offenders, and category A or B felons. In order for career criminals adjudicated under the small habitual statute to be "punished for a category B felony[,]" that punishment must include a prohibition against applying good-time credits to parole eligibility.

Enabling a habitual offender to acquire early parole eligibility, simply because he had the good fortune to commit a lesser felony as his third repeat-felony offense, violates the purpose of the Nevada statutory scheme mandating enhanced punishment for such offenders. This Court should decline Doolin's invitation to undermine the enhanced punishment he deserved and received under NRS 207.010. Only this decision would uphold the purpose and effectiveness of the habitual criminal statute, which "sought to discourage repeat offenders and to afford them an opportunity to reform." *Rezin v. State*, 95 Nev. 461, 463, 596 P.2d 226, 227 (1979);

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, NDOC respectfully requests that this Court affirm the judgment of the district court denying Doolin's Petition.